1993

Kennyu Jim Shaw v. Layton Construction Company, Inc., Steel Deck Erectors, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3 and 5, Article VIII of the Utah Constitution; Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(k), 1953 as amended;

and, Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL AND STANDARD OF
APPELLATE REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court committed error in ruling, as a matter of law, that Nevada Workers Compensation law applies to this case and that Defendants are exempt from common law liability for injuries suffered by the Plaintiff.

2. Whether the trial court committed error in ruling, as a matter of law, that Plaintiff is not entitled to bring this action for personal injuries pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-62, 1953 as amended.

3. Whether the trial court committed error in ruling, as a matter of law, that Utah's Workers Compensation Act does not have extraterritorial effect and that Plaintiff is prohibited from bringing a personal injury claim against the named Defendants for injuries sustained by the Plaintiff.

4. Whether the trial court committed error in ruling, as a matter of law, that the choice of law doctrine of Lex Loci Delicti applies to workers' compensation cases where a Utah resident is injured while temporarily working in another state.

5. Whether the law of a foreign state should be applied in workers' compensation cases where a Utah resident is injured while temporarily working in another state and brings a third party action in Utah.

6. Whether the law of the state paying workers' compensation

benefits should be applied in cases where a resident of the State of Utah, receiving said benefits in Utah, brings a third party action in Utah.

The standard of review for all issues of law presented on appeal herein is one of assessment for correctness. State v. Rio Vista Oil, Ltd., 786 P.2d 1342 (Utah, 1990).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Plaintiff submits the following Constitutional and Statutory provisions which are determinative of the issues presented for appeal herein:

1. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, Section 1:

"All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

2. Utah Const. art. I, Section 7:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

3. Utah Const. art. I, Section 11:

"All courts shall be open and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to

which he is a party.

4. Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-62, 1953 as amended:
See Addendum "A".

5. Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-54, 1953 as amended:
See Addendum "B".

6. Nevada Restatement Statutes, §616.270: See Addendum "C".

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Shaw, will sometimes be referred to as "Shaw"; and the Defendant/Appellee, Layton Construction Company, Inc., a Utah corporation, will sometimes be referred to as "Layton"; the Defendant/Appellee, Steel Deck Erectors, Inc., a Utah corporation, will sometimes be referred to as "Steel Deck".

"R." refers to Record; and "Ex." refers to Exhibit.

No record of the proceedings in the trial court was made or transcribed and therefore no reference will be made to the transcript of record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A) Nature of the Case:

This is an action brought pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-62, 1953 as amended, arising from personal injuries sustained by Shaw while working on a construction project in the State of Nevada on February 5, 1990. The Plaintiff, his employer and the Appellees were, at all times relevant hereto, residents of the State of Utah and Shaw was hired in the State of Utah (R.377). Further, the subcontracts between Layton, Shaw's

employer and the other Defendants were executed in Salt Lake City, Utah in 1989. Plaintiff brought this action seeking damages for personal injuries he received as a result of the negligence of the named Defendants (R. 2-7; 12-18).

B) Course of Proceedings:

This is an Appeal from final Orders of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, before the Honorable Pat B. Brian, District Court Judge, dated November 26, 1991 granting Layton's Motion to Dismiss and Steel Deck's Motion for Summary Judgment which were docketed with the Clerk of the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah on or about the same said date, and from all Rulings and Orders of said Court affecting or pertaining to the rights claimed and asserted by the Plaintiff. (R. 321-325; 326-329).

Defendants Layton and Steel Deck are the only Defendants who have been served and who have entered an appearance in this matter. Defendant, Bilt-Rite Concrete, Inc. (named in the Complaint as Built-Right Concrete, Inc.) is believed to be a Nevada corporation and has not been served in this matter. However, it has been served and entered an appearance as a third-party Defendant in the underlying third-party action brought by Layton against the subcontractors involved. (R. 39-76; 86-87A; 105-110).

C) Disposition in Lower Court:

Hearing on Layton's Motion to Dismiss and Steel Deck's Motion for Summary Judgment was held before the Honorable Pat B.

Brian, Third District Court Judge, on November 8, 1991. Prior to the hearing, Layton and Steel Deck submitted memoranda in support of their respective motions. Shaw submitted memoranda in opposition to each of the motions. The Court permitted oral argument and thereafter took the parties' written and oral arguments under advisement. Thereafter, the Court issued its Memorandum Decision, containing its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and its Order dated November 26, 1991 granting both Motions and dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 110-120A; 121-138; 139-149; 165-174; 193-194; 195-237; 242-254; 256-272; 321-329).

This case was previously on appeal before this Court pursuant to a Notice of Appeal which was filed on December 26, 1991 (R.345-346). Inasmuch as this case also involves a third party Complaint by Layton against other third party Defendants, this Court, on its own Motion, dismissed that appeal on the grounds that this Plaintiff/Appellant did not obtain certification of the orders of dismissal as final judgments pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Accordingly, said appeal (case number 920685-CA) was dismissed without prejudice.

Pursuant to Motion and Stipulation, the parties hereto obtained a certification from the Trial Court as required by Rule 54(b) dated July 8, 1993. A Notice of Appeal was filed by the Plaintiff with the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah on July 20, 1993. The matter is now before this Court for consideration of the issues raised by the

Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about February 5, 1990, the Plaintiff, Shaw, was injured while working on Phase II of the Maximum Security Prison in Ely, Nevada. Shaw, at all times relevant hereto, was and is a resident of the State of Utah and at the time of his injury was employed by Harv & Higham Masonry, a Utah corporation and one of the subcontractors on the project at the time of Shaw's injury (R.322-323). Shaw was first employed by Harv & Higham in May, 1989 in Utah. (R. 2-7; 374) (See Kenny Shaw Deposition, page 17, line 18). At the time of his injury, Shaw had been in Ely, Nevada since about November, 1989. (R.377) (See Kenny Jim Shaw Deposition, page 20, lines 6-14).

Layton is a Utah corporation and was the general contractor on the prison project. Steel Deck, also a Utah corporation, was one of the subcontractors on the project. All of the subcontracts relevant to this action were executed and entered into in Salt Lake City, Utah in or about July, 1989 (R. 44-56).

Subsequent to his injury, Shaw applied for and received workers' compensation benefits from the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah and entered into a Compensation Agreement for his permanent/partial disability which was approved by the Industrial Commission of Utah.

Shaw filed this action pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-62, 1953 as amended, (Addendum "A") to

recover damages from negligent third parties including the Defendants herein. (R.2-7; 12-18).

Defendant, Layton, filed a Motion to Dismiss and Defendant, Steel Deck, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Both parties contended that Shaw's only remedy was that granted to him by Nevada's workers' compensation laws and that pursuant to those laws, he was barred from bringing any third party action. Defendants asserted the doctrine of *lex loci delicti* applies to workers' compensation cases where a Utah resident is injured while temporarily working in another state for a Utah employer and that he is prohibited from bringing a third party action in Utah.

In opposition to the Defendants' Motions, Shaw asserted that the Utah Legislature intended to give extraterritorial effect to Utah's Workmens Compensation Act including Shaw's right to bring a third party action under Utah Code Annotated, Section 35-1-62, 1953 as amended. Shaw contended that this right is especially applicable where the tortfeasors were Utah residents and where he was hired in Utah by a Utah employer and received workers' compensation benefits in Utah.

On November 8, 1991, a hearing on Defendants' Motions was held before the Honorable Pat B. Brian of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. After taking the parties' written and oral arguments under advisement, the trial court granted both motions, ruling as a matter of law that Nevada's workers' compensation laws apply to this case and that the

Defendants were immune and exempt from liability for Shaw's injuries. The trial court further ruled that Shaw was not entitled to bring this action under Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-62, 1953 as amended, and that Utah's Workmens Compensation Act has no extraterritorial effect. (R. 321-325; 326-329).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is whether Utah's workers' compensation law should be applied in allowing Shaw to pursue a third party action against the Defendants for injuries he sustained while temporarily working in Nevada for his Utah employer. While Utah's Workmens Compensation Act allows such suits, Nevada's workers' compensation law does not (Addendum "C"). This is not a contract or tort law choice of law issue, but rather a workers' compensation choice of law matter which is different due to certain governmental interests and the public policy of this state.

As it pertains to third party actions arising from within the workers' compensation context, Plaintiff contends that the workers' compensation laws of Utah should be applied in allowing such actions where certain factors are present. Namely, where the residence of the Plaintiff, his employer and the Defendants is in Utah; where Plaintiff was hired in Utah; and where the Plaintiff applied for and received workers' compensation benefits in Utah.

It is clear and unmistakable that the Utah Legislature and this Court have stated that the public policy of this state is to provide for a right of action on behalf of an injured employee

against a third party tortfeasor. Further, this right should be extended to Utah residents who are hired in Utah by a Utah employer and who are injured while temporarily working in another state. This right is clearly established by the extraterritoriality of Utah's Workmens Compensation Act as enunciated by this Court and our Legislature.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UTAH'S WORKMENS COMPENSATION ACT GOVERNS RIGHT OF
UTAH RESIDENT TO BRING THIRD PARTY ACTION FOR
INJURIES SUSTAINED WHILE TEMPORARILY WORKING
IN ANOTHER STATE WHERE UTAH RESIDENT WAS
HIRED AND RECEIVED WORKERS' COMPENSATION
BENEFITS IN UTAH

The principal issue which is before this Court is essentially one involving a choice of laws. It is an issue which has not heretofore been settled by this Court and one which merits attention as it bears upon the substitutive rights of this state's residents who are hired by a Utah employer and are injured on the job while temporarily in another state. Specifically, can a resident of this State who is hired here and required to temporarily work in another state, sue negligent third parties who cause injury to him? It is not an issue of which state's contract or tort law applies, but rather which state's workers' compensation law applies because an individual's right to bring a third party action exclusively derives from the applicable workers' compensation law, i.e., Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-62, 1953 as

amended. Plaintiff contends that the trial court was in complete error in ruling that the tort doctrine of *lex loci delicti* applies in workmens compensation cases such as this and that Nevada law, which bars such actions, applies. Furthermore, the legal authorities which the Defendants submitted to the trial court in support of their arguments didn't involve or address this specific issue. Consequently, there was no legal basis for the trial court's ruling dismissing this case.

While this Court has not addressed this specific issue, the Plaintiff directs the Court's attention to numerous other jurisdictions, both state and federal, which clearly hold that the worker's compensation law of the state where the employee resides, where he was hired, and where he received workmens compensation benefits, determines his right to bring a third party action for injuries sustained in the course of employment while temporarily in another state. In Simaitis v. Flood, 437 A.2d 828 (Conn. 1980) an injured employee brought an action in Connecticut against a coemployee based upon the negligent operation of an automobile while they were in the state of Tennessee. Both the Plaintiff and Defendant were residents of Connecticut; they were hired in Connecticut, and their principal place of employment was in Connecticut. Each received workers' compensation benefits under Connecticut law for injuries sustained in Tennessee. Tennessee law did not allow an employee to sue a coemployee for injuries, and Connecticut's workers' compensation law did permit such suits.

By way of comparison to the case at hand, Plaintiff points out that he and the Defendants are residents of Utah; Shaw was hired in Utah and his principal place of employment is in Utah (R. 374, 377) as are the Defendants' principal places of business. Shaw applied for and received workers' compensation benefits in Utah for the injuries he sustained in Nevada. Nevada law does not allow suits against negligent third parties. Utah allows such suits pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-62, 1953 as amended, and the cases of Pate v. Marathon Steel Company, 777 P.2d 428 (Utah, 1989), and Bosch v. Busch Development, Inc., 777 P.2d 431 (Utah, 1989).

In Simaitis, supra, the Connecticut Supreme Court was faced with the issue of which state's workers' compensation law should be applied in determining whether a third party action would be allowed. It first addressed then rejected the contract choice of law rule. Id. at 831. Next, it discussed the tort choice of law rule requiring application of the law of the state where the injury occurred which is more commonly known as the rule of *lex loci delicti* being asserted by the Defendants in the present case. The Connecticut Supreme Court rejected the application of *lex loci delicti* in workers' compensation cases stating that:

"The place-of-the-injury rule affords only an unsatisfactory resolution to the workers' compensation choice of laws problem." Id. at 831 (emphasis added)

The Court continued:

The application of Connecticut's tort choice of law principles to compensation cases would bestow upon temporary visitors injured in Connecticut all the relief which the Connecticut compensation act affords, but deny that same relief to Connecticut residents injured while on temporary business outside the state, even when all of the incidents of employment such as in this case, are in Connecticut. Moreover, if this court were to adhere to strict application of the place-of-the-injury rule, a Connecticut resident and employee of a Connecticut employer under a Connecticut contract, who was injured while on temporary business in another jurisdiction might be left with no tort remedy whatsoever if that other jurisdiction applied a different choice of law rule. Id. at 831

The Court then went on to adopt and hold that there is a separate workers' compensation Choice of Law standard which should be applied in this type of case. It held that:

"Connecticut's interest in compensating the injured employee, a Connecticut resident to the fullest extent possible is clear and legitimate. Connecticut's other articulable interest lies in permitting the Plaintiff's employer, a Connecticut corporation, to recover from the Defendant the amount of compensation already paid or to be paid in the future..." Id. at 832.

The Court then cited Thomas v. Washington Gas Light Company, 448 U.S. 261, 100 S.Ct. 2647, 65 L.Ed.2d 757 (1980) and said:

Just as Virginia had no legitimate interest in preventing the District of Columbia from awarding relief supplemental to that awarded in Virginia, Tennessee has no legitimate interest in preventing Connecticut from providing the injured employee with a right of action for damages against a third party, particularly where both the employee and the alleged tortfeasor are Connecticut residents, the employer is a Connecticut corporation and

the employee was hired and principally employed in Connecticut. Simaitis, supra, at 832.

In its conclusion, the Court in Simaitis then held that

"the applicable law in a workers' compensation case is the law of the place of the employment relation, because the existence of the employer-employee relation within the state gives the state an interest in controlling the incidents of that relation, one of which incidents is the right to receive and the obligation to pay compensation" Id. at 833. (emphasis added)

Plaintiff here urges this Court to adopt the same Choice of Law standard in workers' compensation cases such as this for the same reasons enunciated by the Connecticut Supreme Court and the authorities cited hereafter. As in Simaitis, Utah clearly has an interest in compensating a Utah resident who is injured while temporarily working in another state, to the fullest extent possible. Likewise, Utah's interest also lies in permitting Shaw's employer, a Utah corporation and the workers' compensation carrier, to recover from the Defendants those amounts of compensation paid as is permitted under Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-62.

The workers' compensation law of the State of Utah, which allows third party actions, should be applied because Shaw and his employer are Utah residents; Shaw was hired in Utah; Shaw received workers' compensation benefits in Utah; the Defendants are also Utah residents; Shaw's presence in Nevada was only temporary and was an incident of his employment (R. 322-323). To bar any recovery for Shaw against third parties would run contrary to the

holding of the United States Supreme Court in the Thomas case, cited supra in that Nevada has no legitimate interest in preventing Utah from providing Shaw with a right of action for damages against a third party, especially where the parties involved are Utah residents and Shaw was hired in Utah by a Utah corporation and Shaw is principally employed in Utah.

Connecticut is not alone in holding that there is a distinct Choice of Law standard involving workers' compensation cases which doesn't recognize the tort standard of *lex loci delicti*.

In Braxton v. Anco Electric Co., 397 S.E.2d 640 (N.C.App. 1990) the North Carolina Court of Appeals dealt with a case which is squarely on point with the one now before this Court. In Braxton, a North Carolina resident was employed by a plumbing subcontractor, a North Carolina corporation, to work on a shopping center in Virginia. The general contractor and the electrical subcontractor, Anco, named as defendant, were also North Carolina corporations. Braxton was injured in an electrical explosion. He applied for and received workers' compensation benefits in North Carolina. He also filed a civil action in North Carolina against Anco alleging negligence of Anco's employees in causing his injuries. Anco sought and obtained a dismissal on the grounds that the action was barred by Virginia's Worker's Compensation Act which prohibits such actions.

The North Carolina Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal and held that even though the principle of *lex loci* applies in standard

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