1993

Kenny Jim Shaw v. Layton Construction Company, Inc., Steel Deck Erectors, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal presents a conflict of laws problem. The application of Nevada law to this dispute would prevent Plaintiff from maintaining his negligence claim against these Defendants, while the application of Utah law would not do so. Because Plaintiff filed suit in Utah, Utah's Choice of Law rules should be used to decide which state's law should apply. Utah has consistently held that procedural matters should be decided by the laws of the forum state, while issues affecting the parties' substantive rights should be resolved by applying the *lex loci delicti* or the law of the place of the wrong. The issue on appeal in the instant case, Plaintiff's ability to pursue a negligent tort claim against these Defendants and Defendants' right to be free from such a lawsuit, directly impacts the substantive rights of the parties, and should therefore be resolved by applying the *lex loci delicti* which is the law of Nevada. Furthermore, Utah's workers' compensation laws do not create an exception to the choice of law rule of *lex loci delicti* in this case.

If this Court concludes that *lex loci delicti* should not be used to resolve conflict of law issues where workers' compensation may be involved the result will remain the same regardless of which choice of law analysis is used.

The most significant contacts approach to this choice of law question (which looks to: the place where the injury occurred; the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred; the domicile, residence nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties; and the place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered) leads to the conclusion that Nevada's contacts to the incident which underlies Plaintiff's lawsuit are greater than Utah's contacts. The injury occurred in Nevada; the allegedly negligent conduct occurred in Nevada; some of the parties to this lawsuit are Utah residents and corporations, others have Nevada domiciles but at the time of Plaintiff's injuries all were doing business in Nevada; and the relationship between the parties was centered entirely in Nevada.

Using an interest analysis to resolve the choice of law problem presented by this appeal also dictates that Nevada law should govern this action. Utah has a valid and legitimate interest in seeing that its citizens receive compensation for work related injuries. Plaintiff has been compensated pursuant to the workers' compensation laws of Utah and has various avenues to augment that award if it is insufficient to adequately compensate him for his injuries. Utah, however, has an even greater interest in ensuring its citizens, subcontractors, and general contractors can continue to seek and receive out of state work on an equal basis with citizens, subcontractors and general contractors from other states. If Nevada law is found to apply to

the instant case citizens and companies who are residents of Utah could continue to compete for out of state work on an equal basis with the residents of other states. Conversely, if Utah law is applied to this dispute, Utah citizens permitted to work on an out of state project as employees, subcontractors or general contractors would expose all others on the same job site to the risk of a lawsuit for negligence in the courts of this state. That risk would end up being eliminated by the systematic exclusion of Utah citizens and companies from out of state projects.

A balancing of only Utah's interests dictates that Nevada law should govern this dispute. An interest analysis approach to choice of law questions, however, requires the interests of both jurisdictions to be considered. Nevada was and is the owner of the Nevada Project. Nevada is also a potential defendant. Nevada has an obvious and legitimate interest in having its own law govern disputes involving a job it commissioned to be completed within its borders. Nevada also has an interest in protecting individuals working within its borders and in ensuring that resident corporations and others doing business within the state will be protected from third party liability for negligence where workers' compensation is involved. The interests of both Utah and Nevada favor the application of Nevada law to this dispute.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CHOICE OF LAW RULE TRADITIONALLY ADHERED TO IN UTAH OF LEX LOCI DELICTI SHOULD BE USED TO DETERMINE WHICH STATE'S LAW SHOULD GOVERN THIS DISPUTE

Plaintiff, a Utah Resident, filed a tort claim in the Third Judicial District Court for the State of Utah seeking to recover for injuries he received while working on a construction project in the state of Nevada for the State of Nevada. If Utah law governs Plaintiff's Complaint, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-62 (1953 as amended), he could maintain his negligence claim against the Defendants named in his Complaint as well as others. If, however, Nevada law is found to govern this action, Plaintiff's Complaint against those in the same employ which includes the general contractor, the subcontractors and all of their employees, would be barred pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 616.560 (1986), 616.270 (1986), 616.085 (Supp. 1989) and 616.116 (1986). This Court must decide which State's law should govern Plaintiff's Complaint.

When faced with a conflict of laws, the forum court should apply its own choice of law rules to determine the outcome of the conflict. Klaxon v. Stentor Electric Mfg. Co., 313 U. S. 487, 491 61 S.Ct. 1020, 85 L.E.D. 1477 (1941). Since, Utah is the forum for this controversy its choice of law rules should be used to decide this issue. In Utah, conflicts over procedural matters are governed by the law of the forum while conflicts over parties' substantive rights are resolved by applying the

traditional rule of *lex loci delicti* or the law of the place of the wrong. Buhler v. Maddison, 176 P.2d 118, 122 (Utah 1947). See also 168 A.L.R. 177; and 16 Am.Jur.2d. Conflicts of Law § 5, 98, 99 and 118.

This Court referred to the procedural/substantive characterization of conflicts questions in Rhoades v. Wright, 622 P.2d 343, 348-49 (Utah 1980). In order to resolve the matter at hand, the conflict between Utah and Nevada law should first be classified as procedural or substantive. Procedural matters are those dealing with the conduct of the litigation; the machinery for carrying on the suit including pleading, process, evidence and practice, June v. Erie R.R. Co., 140 N.E. 366 (Ohio 1922); or the mode by which a legal right is enforced. Bohme v. Southern Pacific Co., 8 Cal. App. 3d 291, 87 Cal.Rptr. 286 (Cal.App.2d 1970). Substantive matters, on the other hand, involve the creation, definition and regulation of individuals' rights and duties. Sohm v. Bernstien, 279 A.2d 529 (Maine 1971).

The conflict in this case involves Plaintiff's right to maintain a cause of action in Utah for an injury he received while working in Nevada and the Defendants' right to be free from such a lawsuit. The conflict at hand directly affects the parties' substantive rights. A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, (1990) § 88.21, 16-193. In the opening paragraph of the argument section of Plaintiff's Brief, Plaintiff acknowledges that the conflict in question "bears upon the substantive rights of this state's [sic] residents..." including

Plaintiff. (Plaintiff's Brief at 10) Therefore, according to the choice of law rule traditionally followed in Utah, the rule of *lex loci delicti*, the substantive law of the place of the wrong should govern actions based on that wrong. Bodrug v. United States of Am. and F.A.A., 832 F.2d 136, 137 (10th Cir. 1987); citing Madison v. Deseret Livestock Co., 574 F.2d 1027, 1032 (10th Cir. 1978); Jackson v. Continental Bank & Trust Co., 443 F.2d 1344, 1349 n. 6 (10th Cir. 1979); Valesquez v. Greyhound Line, Inc., 12 Utah 2d 379, 366 P.2d 989, 991 (1961), overruled on other grounds; Harris v. Utah Transit Auth., 672 P.2d 217 (Utah 1983); and Hudson v. Decker, 7 Utah 2d 24, 317 P.2d 594, 595 (1957).

The purpose of the rule of *lex loci delicti* is, and always has been, to promote stability in the law, predictability of result, justice among the parties and to prevent the scourge of forum shopping. 16 Am.Jur.2d Conflicts of Law §§ 5, 98, 99 and 118. See also Northeast Utilities, Inc. v. Pittman Trucking Co., 595 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Ala. 1992) and O'Conner v. O'Conner, 519 A.2d 13 (Conn. 1986). The case at hand is an ideal situation to apply the choice of law rule of *lex loci delicti* and promote the above values.

In some situations where the traditional tort choice of law rule of *lex loci delicti* has been rejected (in cases dealing with automobile guest statutes or interspousal immunity) the courts have focused on the fortuitousness of the place of the injury. See Forsman v. Forsman, 779 P.2d 218, 219-220 (Utah

1989). But see Wood v. Taylor, 332 P.2d 215, 216 (Utah 1958); and Hudson, 317 P.2d. at 594-595. In the instant case, however, the converse is true. The fortuitous facts surrounding this dispute are the parties' domiciles. See LaBounty v. American Insurance Co., 451 A.2d 161, 163 (N.H. 1982), and Clark v. Clark, 222 A.2d 205, 208 (N.H. 1966). The owner of the Nevada Project, the State of Nevada, was certain and known to all. The job site of Ely, Nevada was also permanent, continual, open, obvious and known to all involved. The domiciles of the general contractor, the subcontractors (all licensed to do construction work in the state of Nevada) and the individual employees (many of whom like Plaintiff were members of Nevada unions), however, were undisclosed and unknown to the others. The record does not indicate how many subcontractors or individual employees were Nevada residents. Two Nevada corporations are currently parties to this lawsuit and in light of the size of the Nevada Project, its owner and its location there are likely to be many others involved, including the State of Nevada.

Because of the various domiciles of the parties and potential parties, applying Utah's law to Plaintiff's Complaint would create confusion, uncertainty and would promote forum shopping. Confusion and uncertainty would result when Plaintiff attempts to serve Bilt-Rite or any of the John Does with domiciles other than Utah. Plaintiff emphasizes time and time again that the Defendants in this case are all residents of Utah. (Plaintiff's Brief at 8, 9, 11 and 14) Plaintiff seems to ignore

the fact that his Complaint named a Nevada Corporation and 26 John Does as Defendants in this action and that various third party claims have been filed against Nevada residents by Layton. It is likely that many of those John Does (which likely includes the State of Nevada) are residents of Nevada or other states. The application of Utah law to Steel Deck and Layton would beg the question what law would apply to the defendants with domiciles other than Utah? The application of *lex loci delicti* to this case, however, would raise no such question. It would be certain for all and would prevent forum shopping.

Another question which would have to be addressed by this court is which law would apply if the injured party seeking to maintain a negligence action were not a resident of Utah? It is not inconceivable that one or more individuals with various domiciles were injured while working on the Nevada Project. If this court applies some rule other than *lex loci delicti* the question of which state's law should apply could become an issue for injuries on this or any other out of state project where a Utah resident, contractor or subcontractor was involved. This case is ideally suited to reaffirm Utah's reliance on *lex loci delicti* to resolve choice of law issues in tort to promote certainty, predictability and the effective administration of justice.

In the case at hand "the acts alleged and complained of [in Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint], and which give rise to the various causes of action enumerated [therein], occurred

exclusively within Ely, Nevada." (R. 2-3 and 13) Furthermore, the injuries for which Plaintiff seeks to recover were sustained exclusively in Ely, Nevada. (Plaintiff's Brief at 6) There is no dispute that Nevada is the place of the wrong. Therefore, unless this Court elects to undertake a new course for choice of law in Utah, the law of Nevada should govern the parties substantive rights and obligations, and bar Plaintiff's Complaint against Steel Deck.

II.

UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 35-1-44(6), 35-1-54 AND 35-1-62 DO NOT CREATE AN EXCEPTION TO THE RULE OF LEX LOCI DELICTI

Plaintiff argues that lex loci delicti should not apply to the instant situation because Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-62 (1953 as amended) grants individuals entitled to workers' compensation an action for damages against some negligent third parties, and Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-54 (1953 as amended) allows a worker, who is hired or regularly employed in this state and is injured during the course of his employment outside of this state, to receive compensation according to the laws of this state. Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred when it ruled, as a matter of law, that "Utah's Workers [sic] Compensation Act is not applicable extraterritorily [sic] for injuries to a Utah worker occurring [sic] outside the state of Utah." (R. 328 ¶ 7) While the trial court's conclusion of law misstates the law as set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-54, Steel Deck contends that the trial court intended paragraph seven to read "Utah Code Ann. §

35-1-62 of Utah's Workers' Compensation Act is not applicable extraterritorially for injuries to a Utah worker occurring outside the state of Utah." That conclusion would be the only position consistent with the Motions and Memoranda submitted by Defendants Layton and Steel Deck. (R. 166-172 and 257) Nevertheless, the trial court's decision is to be reviewed for correctness and the outcome below was correct.

Plaintiff contends that Utah's Workers' Compensation statute was intended to have extraterritorial effect and cites dubious cases in support of that contention. Steel Deck agrees that Utah's legislative scheme to compensate employees who are injured on the job extends to employees who are injured while out of state. Steel Deck, however, disagrees with Plaintiff's interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-44(6) construing the word "benefits" to include "the right to bring a third party tort action for injuries received by the employee while temporarily out of state." (Plaintiff's Brief at 28)

Reading Utah Workers' Compensation Act (Utah Code Ann. §§ 35-1-1 through 35-1-107) as a whole, demonstrates the lack of logic or reason in Plaintiff's position regarding the meaning of "and benefits." Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-45 and 35-1-50, (1953 as Amended) provide in part that an employee injured by accident in the course of his employment, regardless of where it occurs, "shall be paid compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury . . . and such amount for medical, nurse, and hospital services and medicines . . . as provided in this chapter." Steel

Deck contends that the payments for "medical, nurse, and hospital services, and for medicines, and [] such artificial means and appliances necessary to treat the patient" provided for in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-81 (1953 as amended), in addition to compensation, are the "benefits" referred to in § 35-1-44(6). Plaintiff's interpretation of "payments and benefits" is further undermined by the legislature's use of: the phrase "Workers' Compensation Benefits" in Utah Code Ann. § § 35-1-46(1), (2) and 35-1-46.10 through .30; "compensation or other benefits in lieu of the compensation and other benefits provided by this title" in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-52; and "the employee's claim for benefits under this chapter is wholly barred" if not brought within 180 days in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-99. (emphasis added) Using the term "benefits" to include an injured employee's right to sue negligent third parties would arguably create a 180 day statute of limitations on such actions.

Plaintiff's contention that an individual's right to maintain a negligence action against third parties is a benefit of Utah's Workers' Compensation Act which should apply extraterritorially is not supported by statute, nor case law and is contrary to the legislature's intent. The language of this State's workers' compensation law fails to provide a basis for this Court to reject the long standing doctrine of *lex loci delicti* for resolving choice of law issues in negligence actions even where workers' compensation is involved. See Dueitt v. Williams, 764 F.2d 1180, 1182-1183 (5th Cir.).

III.

NEVADA LAW SHOULD BE FOUND TO GOVERN PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WHETHER THE CONFLICT OF LAWS PRESENTED BY THIS APPEAL IS RESOLVED BY APPLYING A "MOST SIGNIFICANT CONTACTS" APPROACH; AN "INTEREST ANALYSIS" APPROACH; OR A COMBINATION OF THOSE APPROACHES

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